### Dexamethasone interferes with Autophagy in Irradiated Malignant Glioma Cells

A Thesis Submitted to the Department of Cancer Biomedical Science in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree of science

Komakech, Alfred

July 2019

National Cancer Center Graduate School of Cancer Science and Policy

**Professor Gwak, Ho-Shin** 

## We hereby approve the M.S. thesis of Komakech, Alfred

#### July 2019

Park, Jong Bae	Sign
Chairman of Thesis Committee	70 0
Cheong, Heesun	Signe
Thesis Committee Member	P
Gwak, Ho Shin	Sign
Thesis Committee Member	

#### NATIONAL CANCER CENTER GRADUATE SCHOOL OF CANCER SCIENCE AND POLICY

#### ABSTRACT

#### Dexamethasone interferes with Autophagy in Irradiated Malignant Glioma Cells

Autophagy is either cyto-cidal or cyto-protective to many tumors and study has shown that radiation induces autophagy in malignant glioma cells (Gewirtz AD, 2013, 2014)

Dexamethasone is frequently used to reduce tumor associated brain edema especially during radiation therapy. However, neither the effect of dexamethasone on autophagy or intervening molecular pathways in radiated malignant glioma cells is studied. The purpose of the study was to determine whether and how dexamethasone affects autophagy in irradiated malignant glioma cells

We prepared U373 and LN229 glioma cell lines, of which have different PTEN mutational status and made U373 stable transfected cells expressing GFP\_LC3 protein. After performing cell survival assay after irradiation, IC<sub>50</sub> radiation dose was determined. Dexamethasone dose (10  $\mu$ M) was determined from the literature, and added to the glioma cells 24 hours before the irradiation. Difference of cell survival by adding-on dexamethasone was evaluated by both cell survival assay and cell cycle analysis. Measurement of

autophagy was visualized by western blot of LC3-Ib/LC3-IIb activation and quantified by both GFP\_LC3 punctuated pattern of fluorescence microscopy and acridine orange staining for acidic vesicle organelles by flow cytometry

Dexamethasone was protective and reduced cell death after irradiation hence resulted to increased cell viability in both U373 and LN229. It interfered with autophagy in both U373 and LN229 depending on the PTEN mutational status as the autophagy is decreased in U373 (PTEN mutated) but increased in LN229 (PTEN wild type). Inhibition of autophagy by selective phospho-Akt inhibitor, Ly294002 repressed the action of dexamethasone significantly in PTEN-mt cells leading to increased autophagy and cell death, while in LN229 there was no significant change in both cell death and autophagy level. After autophagy knockdown, dexamethasone decreased cell death in both MG cells. In conclusion, the action of dexamethasone interfered with autophagy and increased cell viability in irradiated malignant glioma cells. This action could be mediated through dysregulation of PI3K/akt/mTOR signaling pathway especially in PTEN-mt, and use of Ly294002 inhibitor could improve treatment in patients with PTEN mutation

Copyright by

[Komakech, Alfred]

[2019]

### Contents

1. Introduction1
2. Materials and Methods4
2.1 Cell culture and irradiation4
2.2 RNA interference
2.3 Cell survival assay5
2.4 Cell cycle analysis
2.5 Quantitative measurement of autophagy using acridine orange7
2.6 Autophagy measurement using GFP_LC37
2.7 Western blot analysis
2.8 Statistical analysis9
3. Results9
3.1 Dexamethasone protects glioma cells from cell death after
irradiation9
3.2 Cell cycle analysis using PI staining10
3.3 Dexamethasone repressed autophagy in PTEN-mt U373 and
increased autophagy in PTEN-wt LN229 cell lines12

3.4 Dexamethasone interferes with autophagosome formation after
irradiation13
3.5 Dexamethasone-induced reduced cell death is reversed with
phospho-Akt inhibitor in PTEN non-functional U373 after irradiation.15
3.6 p-Akt inhibition interfering dexamethasone effect in U373 glioma
cells after irradiation is mediated via autophagy formation17
3.7 Atg5 inhibition decreased autophagy in both MG cell lines18
4. Discussions20
4.1 Dexamethasone reduced cell death after irradiation of MG cells 20
4.2. Possible mechanism of action of dexamethasone in protecting
irradiated glioma cells21
4.3 Combination treatment of MG cells using dexamethasone and
radiation affects autophagy according to PTEN functional status22
5. Conclusion25
Bibliography26
Acknowledgement

### **Table of Figures**

Figure 1: Dexamethasone increases survival in both U373 and LN229
glioma cell lines after irradiation10
Figure 2: Dexamethasone increased G2/M arrest and decreased subG1
accumulation reducing apoptosis12
Figure 3: Measurement of autophagy using acridine orange staining and
flow cytometry
Figure 4: Illustration of dexamethasone effect on radiation induced
autophagy in glioma cells15
Figure 5: Colony forming assay after dexamethasone and radiation
indicated reduced cell death
Figure 6: Effect of p-Akt inhibition on autophagy following
dexamethasone interference
Figure 7: ATG5 knockdown decrease autophagy after irradiation in both
U373 and LN229
Figure 8. Increased cell survival after Autophagy inhibition-using ATG5
siRNA significantly decreased cell death of both U373 and LN229 19

## List of Supplementary Figures

Supplementary figure 1: Dexamethasone (10µM) had no significant ef	fect
on malignant glioma cells	.32
Supplementary figure 2: Atg5 knock down efficiency tested on U	373
using different concentration of siRNA.	.32
Supplementary figure 3: Dexamethasone dephosphorylated akt	in
PTEN_mt U373 glioma cell after radiation	.32

#### **1. Introduction**

Glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) is an aggressive primary brain tumors and presents with continuous local tumor growth as well as a tendency for spreading through brain parenchyma. Currently, the standard therapy for GBM includes maximal surgical resection followed by concomitant chemo-radiotherapy with temozolomide (Stupp R, 2005, Davis ME, 2016). As stated, radiotherapy is one of the three (3) main treatment modalities for malignant glioma (MG) treatment used to shrink the tumor or kill residual cancer cells after surgical resection (Baskar R, 2014). Almost all MGs recur in a more aggressive way and there is no standard of care for recurrent GBM (Kewal KJ, 2018). Resistance of the glioma cells to radiation has been one of the limitations to the success of treatment and dose related adverse events preclude to re-radiation in case of recurrent GBM.

A glucocorticoid, dexamethasone has been used for decades in the treatment of GBM to reduce tumor associated cerebral edema especially during radiation therapy (Shields LB, 2015). It is frequently used before and after radiotherpay in order to alleviate the side effects such as nausea and vomiting (Das A, 2004). However, the effect of dexamethasone in cancer cell growth and patient's survival remains contentious, as many

studies have reported that it protects cancer cells from radiation and chemotherapy (Pitter LK, 2016). Glucocorticoid is also well-known catabolic inducer as it frequently provokes steroid-induced diabetes mellitus (DM) as side effect.

Autophagy (literally meaning 'self-eating') is a vital catabolic mechanism where cells digest and recycle their own organelles for supplying energy and maintaining cellular homeostasis especially during starvation, growth factor deprivation, pathogen infections and endoplasmic reticulum stress (Moretti L, 2007, Gustafsson AB, 2008).

Thus, it is not surprising that dexamethasone affects autophagy in many cancer cell lines, which requires high energy consumption for rapid proliferation (Troncoso R, 2014)

Autophagy has been known to play both cytotoxic and cyto-protective roles in cancer development and progression via various signal pathways in determining the response of tumor cells to anticancer therapy (Hippert MM, 2006, Sharma K, 2014, and Tam S, 2017). Radiation-induced autophagy has been observed in almost every tumor types and attracted particular interest (Wilson EN, 2011, Classen F, 2016 and Wang L, 2018). However, whether radiation-induced autophagy triggers tumor cell survival or cell death remains unclear. As apoptosis was rarely observed in glioma cells after irradiation, the role of autophagy in programmed cell

death after irradiation has been suggested to be a responsible way to cell death (Gwak HS, 2015).

The exact mechanisms underlying glioma cell radio-resistance not well studied although many researchers believe to be associated with DNA repair defects due to a combination of mechanisms. These factors include gene mutations, epigenetic events, and alterations in signal pathways such as Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/ protein kinase B (PKB, also known as AKT) (Willers H, 2013). Akt promotes cell survival by inhibiting apoptosis through phosphorylation and inactivation of several targets.

Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate 3-phosphatase (PTEN) suppresses the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway and is frequently mutated in glioblastoma and encodes a dual specificity phosphatase that impairs the PI3K/AKT/mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway, which is a key regulator of autophagy (Song M, 2012, Erraffiy R, 2013).

PI3K/Akt pathway plays an important role in cancer development and dysregulation of this pathway through loss of PTEN repression is a common occurrence in many aggressive cancers including malignant gliomas (Nowak D, 2016).

3

In this study, we try to evaluate how the catabolic effect of dexamethasone affects radiation-induced autophagy and related cell death in malignant glioma cells. In our study, we used two glioma cell lines of different PTEN functional status (U373 of PTEN-mt and LN229 of PTEN-wt) to explore how dexamethasone affected autophagy according to PTEN mutational status.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Cell culture and irradiation

Human glioblastoma cell lines, LN229 and U373 were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). Cells were grown in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% of penicillin/ streptomycin at 37°C, 5% CO2. Cells were treated with 10  $\mu$ M dexamethasone sodium, and irradiated with a Gammacell 1000 Elite Cesium<sup>137</sup> source (MDS Nordion, Ottawa, ON, Canada) at 24 hours after plating for a calculated dose by dose rate of 0.0416 Gy/second.

#### 2.2 RNA interference

To suppress autophagosome formation, we knocked down autophagy related 5 (ATG5) protein. Knockdown of ATG5(Human) expression was done using small interfering RNA (siRNA) and a negative control bought from Ambion (life technologies, USA) transfected into the glioma cells using lipofectamine 2000 reagent (Invitrogen, USA) in accordance with the manufacturer's instruction and 24 hours later cells were used in the experiment.

#### 2.3 Cell survival assay

Two methods of cell viability were employed, cell-counting using automated cell counter after trypan blue staining and clonogenic assay. During survival assay, cells were plated on 60 mm culture plates  $(2\times10^3$ cells), after 24 hours 10  $\mu$ M dexamethasone added, then 24 hours later subjected to different doses of radiation 0 Gy, 2 Gy, 5 Gy, 10 Gy, 15 Gy and 20 Gy. Cells were then incubated at 37°C with regular media changes for 8-10 days until control is 100% confluent. Cells were washed twice with DPBS, trypsinized with 1 ml trypsin-EDTA, stained with trypan blue and counted using automated cell counter. The percentage of viable cells calculated from the ratio of treated cells to normal control cells. Three (3) independent experiments were carried out and the mean determined.

For colony forming Assay, cells were plated at clonogenic density  $(1.0 \times 10^3)$  in a 60 mm culture plate, and then treated with dexamethasone (10  $\mu$ M) and 10 Gy radiation dose as per the experiment setup. Cells were

incubated for 8-10 days with regular media changes after treatment. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 minutes, then stained with 0.4% crystal violet for 20 minutes, washed under running distilled water and allowed to dry for 2 hours. A cluster of 50 cells and more was scored as a colony.

#### 2.4 Cell cycle analysis

Cells were plated on 60 mm plates  $(1 \times 10^5 \text{ cells})$ , and 24 hours after pretreatment with 10  $\mu$ M dexamethasone and then subjected to 10 Gy radiation during the log growth phase. 72 hours after treatment, cells (including non-adherent cells) were collected, centrifuged twice at 1500 RPM for 5 minutes in PBS to remove trypsin then fixed slowly by adding drops of 70% cold ethanol and kept overnight at 4°C. Fixed cells washed twice with cold PBS at 2000 RPM for 10 minutes each. Fixed cells were then suspended in 500  $\mu$ l of PI (50  $\mu$ g/mL in phosphate buffered saline [PBS]) containing 100  $\mu$ g/mL RNase A (CosmoGenetech, Seoul, Korea), then incubated in darkness at room temperature for 30 minutes. DNA content analyzed using a fluorescence-activated cell sorter (BD LSRFortessa, BD Biosciences) and the FACSDiva software (BD Biosciences).

# 2.5 Quantitative measurement of autophagy using acridine orange

For acidic vesicular organelle (AVO) staining, pre-treated cells as stated above were incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes in a pre-warmed culture media containing acridine orange (1  $\mu$ g/mL). After trypsinization and washing twice in PBS, pelleted cells suspended in PBS and kept on ice, protected from light with aluminum foil cover and subjected to fluorescence-activated cell sorter (BD LSRfortessa, BD biosciences) and data analysis by BD FACSDiva software.

#### 2.6 Autophagy measurement using GFP\_LC3

Cells were transfected with a GFP\_LC3 expression plasmid incorporated into the lentiviral vector using Lipofectamine 2000 reagent (Invitrogen Life Technologies). Selection with puromycin to establish stably transfected cells expressing GFP\_LC3 fluorescence and was confirmed microscopically before experiment. Three days following pre-treatment with 10 µM dexamethasone and 10 Gy dose irradiation as described above, cells were observed under fluorescence microscope for the fluorescence of GFP\_LC3 and LC3 punctuated spots cells were counted. The average percentage of autophagic cells was calculated from the ratio of GFP\_LC3 punctuated cells to normal cells only bearing GFP\_LC3 fluorescence per high power field (x 200).

#### 2.7 Western blot analysis

Cells were cultured on 60 mm plate ( $1 \times 10^5$  cells) treated and incubated for the required time as described above, washed and trypsinized, then centrifuged to form cell pellets. Cell pellets were lysed in a lysis buffer (RIPA with proteases and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail), for at least 30 minutes on ice, and then cleared by centrifugation for 20 minutes at 12,000 RPM/4°C. The concentration of protein was determined using bovine serum albumin (BSA) protein standard and measured with spectrophotometry at 562 wavelength. The protein was heated at 95°C for 5minutes and resolved by 12% and 15% polyacrylamide gel, electrophoresis using mini-PROTEAN and ran at 80V for first 30 minutes and later 125V for one (1) hour. The protein was transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane at 250A for 90 minutes at 4°C, blocked for 1hour with nonfat dry milk in TBST. The membrane incubated at 4°C overnight in different primary antibodies; anti-LC3, anti-AKT, pAKT, anti-ATG5 (Novus Biologicals, Littleton, CO), and anti–β-actin (Sigma-Aldrich). The membrane washed three (3) times in TBST for 10 minutes, and then incubated with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody for 1 hour at room temperature. The protein complex was detected using western blot detection Kit A and B mixed in the ratio of 1:1 and visualize using an enhanced chemo-luminescence, developed on an X-ray film.

#### 2.8 Statistical analysis

Three independent experiments were carried out (triplicate) and results were expressed as the mean ±standard error of the mean. Statistical significance were calculated using a two-tailed unpaired Student's t test using GraphPad Prism (ver. 6.0, GraphPad software, La Jolla, CA). P-value less than 0.05 and was taken as statistically significant.

#### **3. Results**

# 3.1 Dexamethasone protects glioma cells from cell death after irradiation

We used clinically achievable dexamethasone dose of 10  $\mu$ M that was determine from literatures (Mattern J et al, 2007) and pre-determined radiation dose from 2 Gy to 20 Gy was applied. Dexamethasone alone did not affect cell proliferation (Supplementary figure 1). The cell survival after irradiation was compared to evaluate the difference between with and without addition of dexamethasone (Figure 1 A and B). The addition of

dexamethasone increased the cell survival significantly in both U373 (p=0.02) and LN229 (p=0.03).

Based on these results, 5 Gy (for LN229) and 10 Gy (for U373) were used for further experiment to observe the cell death and autophagy as inhibitory dose 50 ( $IC_{50}$ ).



Figure 1: Dexamethasone increases survival in both U373 and LN229 glioma cell lines after irradiation. Malignant glioma cells were pre-treated with 10  $\mu$ M of dexamethasone and different doses of irradiation. Both U373 (*p*=0.0191) and LN229 (*p*=0.0280), showed significant increase in survival. The red arrow showing the difference between the dexamethasone pre-treated and radiation only treated cells.

#### 3.2 Cell cycle analysis using PI staining

To observe the effect of dexamethasone on cell cycle after irradiation, we prepared cells as per our experimental setup and performed flow cytometry analysis using PI staining, (Figure 2 A and B). The G2/M phase accumulation was observed after 10 Gy irradiation and it was significantly increased with addition of dexamethasone in both U373 cell lines (38% vs. 45%) and LN229 (35% vs. 47%) (Figure 2. C, p=0.020 and 0.021, respectively). Meanwhile, subG1 accumulation after irradiation was significantly decreased compared to 10 Gy radiation only in both U373 and LN229 cells (p=0.019 and 0.03, respectively). These data together suggest that G2/M arrest and subG1 accumulation of cell population at lethal radiation dose is significantly interrupted by dexamethasone.



Figure 2: Dexamethasone increased G2/M arrest and decreased subG1 accumulation reducing apoptosis. (A) Cell cycle analysis of both U373 and LN229 after 3 days of incubation following treatment with both dexamethasone and irradiation. (B and C) Proportional analysis of cell cycle fraction revealed radiation-induced G2/M arrest and subG1 accumulation were interrupted significantly by the addition of dexamethasone in both U373 and LN229

### 3.3 Dexamethasone repressed autophagy in PTEN-mt U373 and increased autophagy in PTEN-wt LN229 cell lines

As autophagy was a main response to irradiation of MG cell lines (Gwak HS, 2015), we measured autophagy quantitatively to evaluate the influence of dexamethasone after irradiation. After acridine orange staining of acidic vascular organelles (AVO), we subjected cells to flow cytometry analysis to measure autophagy. In U373 cells, the AVO containing cells decrease significantly in dexamethasone treated cells compared to the radiation only treated cells (49% vs. 35%, p=0.01). Meanwhile, in LN229 cells, at 10 Gy AVO containing cells increases up to 40% compared to control (12%), but significantly increased after dexamethasone treatment compared to the radiation only treated cells (52%, p=0.01).



Figure 3: Measurement of autophagy using acridine orange staining and flow cytometry (A). Dexamethasone decreased autophagy in U373 (p=0.010) and (B). Increased autophagy in LN229 (p=0.010).

# 3.4 Dexamethasone interferes with autophagosome formation after irradiation.

Western blot evaluation of conversion of LC3-Ib to LC3-IIb conjugate is a standard marker/indicator of autophagy (Tanida I, 2008), In U373 cell lines; there was drastic reduction in LC3-IIb band on the western blot compared to the radiation only cells (Figure 4). Whereas, in LN229 there was significant increase of LC3-IIb in dexamethasone treated cells compared to the radiation only treated cells. These results are in accordance with quantitative measurement of AVO indicating autophagy. These results were further confirmed using GFP\_LC3 stably transfected U373 cells (Figure 4. B). The expression level of GFP\_LC3 punctuated cells showed autophagy increased after irradiation, and after treatment with dexamethasone, there was significant reduction of the number of GFP\_LC3 granules compared to the radiation only cells(Figure 4.C, p = 0.016)

The data taken together suggest that dexamethasone interfere with autophagy after irradiation and the influence is different depending on the PTEN mutational status of the glioma cell





Figure 4: Illustration of dexamethasone effect on radiation induced autophagy in glioma cells. (A) Western blot analysis of LC3 shows an increase in LC3-IIb is indicative of autophagosome conjugation. (B). Fluorescence microscope pictures showing GFP\_LC3 punctuated cells after treatment and incubated for the required time. (C). Graphs of U373 GFP\_LC3 indicating reduced number of GFP\_LC3 punctuated cells after treatment with dexamethasone (Average GFP-LC3 punctuated counted per field, 30 vs 15 respectively, P=0.0155). Three independent experiments were carried out and the mean taken as true value.

3.5 Dexamethasone-induced reduced cell death is reversed with phospho-Akt inhibitor in PTEN non-functional U373 after irradiation.

As PI3K/Akt, pathway activation is alleged cellular response to radiation-induced damage in glioma cells (Li HF, 2009), we adopted phosphor-Akt inhibitor to evaluate if dexamethasone effect on radiationinduced cell death is related to interruption of Akt activation. We adopted colony forming assay to augment the partial effect of dexamethasoneinduced decreased cell death after irradiation. The addition of phospho-akt inhibitor significantly reversed the dexamethasone-induced increased colony forming ability in U373, but provoked no significant change compared to dexamethasone-treated irradiated cells in LN229. Together these data demonstrate that dexamethasone protects glioma cells from apoptosis after irradiation and the effect is mediated via Akt activation in PTEN-mt glioma cells



Figure 5: Colony forming assay after dexamethasone and radiation indicated reduced cell death. Combination of dexamethasone and Ly294002(Ly) inhibitor of Akt activation resulted into increased cell death in U373 (surviving fraction were 0.548 vs 0.336, p=0.0052) and no significant change (surviving fraction 0.562 vs 0.525, p>0.05) in LN229. 50 cells or more were counted as a colony. The experiment was in triplicate and the mean value calculated.

3.6 p-Akt inhibition interfering dexamethasone effect in U373 glioma cells after irradiation is mediated via autophagy formation

We tested if Akt inhibitor effect in U373 cells on dexamethasoneinduced reduced cell death after irradiation is related to autophagy activity (Figure 6). Quantitative measurement of autophagy by AVO counting revealed significant decrease of autophagy activity by phospho-Akt inhibition in PTEN-mt U373 cells but no discernible change in PTEN-wt LN229 cells. This decreased autophagy by phosphor-Akt inhibitor in U373 cells appeared as a reverse of dexamethasone-induced reduced autophagy after irradiation. Together this data confirm that dexamethasone may be partly acting through PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway of which Akt is the one negative regulator.



Figure 6: The effect of p-Akt inhibition on autophagy following dexamethasone interference. Cells were pre-treated with dexamethasone for 24 hours and then 5  $\mu$ M of Ly294002(Ly) inhibitor added 30 minutes before irradiation. In U373,

there was significant increase (p=0.0377) in the AVO expression indicating increased autophagy. In LN229, there was no significant effect after blockage of p-AKT and hence no change in autophagy.

#### 3.7 Atg5 inhibition decreased autophagy in both MG cell lines

To determine if the knockdown of autophagy would have an effect on dexamethasone treated cells, we knockdown autophagy with ATG5 siRNA. After confirming ATG5 knockdown by Western blot (supplementary figure 2), we measured autophagy activity by Western blot of LC3 protein.

As expected knock down of ATG5 significantly decreases LC3 II conjugation in both U373 and LN229 cells (Figure 7).



Figure 7: ATG5 knockdown decrease autophagy after irradiation in both U373 and LN229. (A) And (B) indicating the western blot result after knockdown of ATG5 on the ratio of LC3-IIb/LC3-Ib on both U373 and LN229. There was reduction in LC3-IIb migration from LC3-Ib.

# 3.8 Autophagy inhibition mitigate dexamethasone-induced reduced cell death after irradiation

To investigate whether inhibition of autophagy is related to cell death, we perform cell survival assay after transfecting cells with ATG5 small interfering RNA. The knockdown of Atg5 affects no discernible effect on clonogenic assay compared to control; it resulted in significant increased cell survival after irradiation in compared to radiation only in both cell lines (Figure 8). Addition of dexamethasone after autophagy inhibition also improves cell survival in the both cell lines.

Together these results indicated that inhibition of autophagy could as well increase cell survival and reduced cell death in our research.



Figure 8. Increased cell survival after Autophagy inhibition-using Atg5 siRNA significantly decreased cell death of both U373 and LN229. In U373 after Atg5 knockdown, the surviving fraction of control compared to negative control (0.92 vs 0.90, p>0.05), radiation compared to radiation + Atg5 siRNA was significant (0.299 vs 0.45, p=0.0001) and radiation + dexamethasone compared to radiation + dexamethasone + Atg5 siRNA (0.543 vs 0.49, p=0.0012). In LN229 surviving

fractions were control compared to negative control (0.92 vs 0.90, p>0.05) radiation compared to radiation + Atg5 siRNA (0.402 vs 0.56, p=0.0045) and radiation + dexamethasone compared to radiation + dexamethasone + Atg5 siRNA (0.65 vs 0.63, p>0.05). Three independent replicate of data set used.

#### 4. Discussions

In our study, we found out that dexamethasone increases cell viability against radiation effect in malignant glioma cells. It significantly reduced cell death, which was related to radio-resistance. Combination of selective phosphor-Akt inhibitor (Ly294002) and dexamethasone resulted to reverse of reduced cell death after radiation in PTEN-mt malignant glioma cells. Autophagy inhibition after knockdown of Atg5 in the glioma cells resulted into neutralization of reduced cell death following treatment with dexamethasone and irradiation.

# 4.1 Dexamethasone reduced cell death after irradiation of MG cells

Our study showed that dexamethasone use in radiation treatment for gliomas might interfere with cell death after irradiation. A study showed that glucocorticoid use during radiation therapy was controversial and may promote cell survival in glioblastoma (Pitter KL, 2016) as it protected solid tumors from cytotoxic effects of anticancer agents (Mattern J, 2007). In another similar study, (Das A, 2004) suggested that dexamethasone protects tumor cells from apoptosis and promote resistance when used concurrently with radiotherapy or chemotherapy, which might result in an undesirable clinical outcome. In a clinical study (Shields LB, 2015) its administration during radiotherapy and temozolomide resulted into poor prognosis in newly diagnosed glioblastoma patients.

## 4.2. Possible mechanism of action of dexamethasone in

#### protecting irradiated glioma cells

In our study, dexamethasone treatment resulted to reduced accumulation of subG1 phase, which is the late stage apoptosis and then increased G2/M arrest after irradiation. The G2/M checkpoint is an important cell cycle checkpoint that ensures cells do not initiate mitosis until damaged DNA or incompletely replicated DNA repair is sufficient.

Defective G2/M arrest could result into premature entry into mitosis before the DNA repair and hence damaged cells going into apoptosis. Increased accumulation of G2/M arrest in malignant glioma cells following dexamethasone and irradiation treatment we observed in our experiment could probably be due to delayed damage DNA repair mechanisms or processes hence decreased apoptosis and reduced cell death. Dexamethasone interferes with the cytotoxic and anti-proliferative actions of most chemotherapeutic drugs (Mattern J, 2007), and has an antagonistic effect on temozolomide induced apoptosis in human glioblastoma U87MG cells (Das A, 2004).

Akt is known to promote DNA damage repair especially in irradiated cancer cells (Toulany M, 2012). PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway negatively controlled autophagosome formation especially in PTEN non-functional cancer cells. Although we have observed the same increased G2/M arrest with the addition of dexamethasone into irradiated glioma cells, the autophagy response to radiation was different according to PTEN status, in LN229, PTEN-functional glioma cells, the increased G2/M arrest could induced prolonged stressful condition to cell's homeostasis than increased autophagy activity. However, in U373, PTEN-non-functional glioma cells, dysregulated PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway might quench the stress from increased G2/M arrest into reduced autophagy as Akt phosphorylation is up-regulated in response to radiation damage.

4.3 Combination treatment of MG cells using dexamethasone and radiation affects autophagy according to PTEN functional status

Relevant clinical doses of radiation promote autophagy in tumor cells (Gewirtz AD, 2014), and there has been very strong evidence to demonstrate that molecular responses to radiation induces autophagy in MG cells and is the way to cell death or apoptosis (Gwak HS, 2015, Yao CK, 2003). Our finding using the irradiation lethal dose of 10Gy confirmed the same hypothesis in MG cells. Some Studies have suggested that Autophagy may be a novel mechanism by which some cells can survive glucocorticoid exposure and provide a potential therapeutic target.

Dexamethasone induces autophagy in lymphocytes, although the mechanism was not fully elucidated (Molitoris JK, 2011) and activation of autophagy is secondary to dexamethasone induced mitochondrial fragmentation (Troncoso R, 2014). Meanwhile a controversial study suggested dexamethasone to inhibit level of autophagy in the injured nerve cells in a dose-dependent manner (Wang ZY, 2018).

We observed autophagy based on acridine orange staining, western blot and fluorescence GFP\_LC3 after a combination treatment with dexamethasone and irradiation. LC3 is an important component of mammalian autophagosomes, and thus the GFP\_LC3 fusion protein has been used as a reliable marker for autophagosome formation (Cao C, 2006). Measurement of autophagic activity by flow cytometry of acidic vesicle organelle (AVO), ratio of LC3 protein bands and observation of GFP\_LC3. In U373 PTEN mutant, dexamethasone inhibits AVO formation after radiation and this was confirmed by decreased ratio of LC3-IIb/LC3-Ib on western blot, and then reduced formation of GFP\_LC3 punctuated cells observed under fluorescence microscope. However, in LN229 PTEN wild type cells, dexamethasone increases radio-resistance through increased autophagy. PTEN acts as a classical tumor suppressor, mainly involved in the homeostatic maintenance of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR cascade (Milella M, 2015) which is a key regulator of autophagy (Errafiy R, 2013). Akt is a known negative regulator of PI3K/mTOR pathway and inhibition or blockade can increase radio-sensitivity to autophagy. Dexamethasone dephosphorylated Akt (supplementary figure 3) and it is much documented to be an Akt deactivator.

However, inhibition of p-Akt using Ly294002 increases autophagy in PTEN-mt cells. Its inhibition caused a drastic increased in autophagy level measured by AVO formation. We hypothesize that dexamethasone could be acting through Glucocorticoid Receptor (GR) for the effect we observed. The effects of LY294002 on radiation examined in the PTEN mutant glioma cell line U251 MG and Low doses of p-Akt inhibitor sensitized U251 MG to clinically relevant doses of radiation (Nakamura JL, 2004).

In our study, although knockdown of autophagy related gene (ATG5) decreased autophagy after irradiated, there was no significant difference on level of autophagy after the addition of dexamethasone in both glioma

cells. Atg5 previously characterized as a protein specifically required for autophagy and it has a role in the formation of autophagosomes. However, an Atg5 fragment produced by calpain cleavage has pro-apoptotic properties (Codogno P, 2006).

Careful use of dexamethasone during radiotherapy could be important to minimize treatment failure in glioblastoma patients. Addition of Akt inhibitor could improve treatment in combination with dexamethasone to increase cancer cell death during radiotherapy especially in glioblastoma patients where PTEN is mutated.

#### **5.** Conclusion

Our findings demonstrated that combination treatment using dexamethasone and radiation of malignant glioma cells increased cell viability, which could be responsible for the radio-resistance normally observed during radiotherapy in MG patients. PTEN mutational status (PTEN-mt and PTEN-wt) of the cancer cells is responsible for the autophagy interference after dexamethasone and radiation. Autophagy inhibition after Atg5 knockdown reduce cell death. Dexamethasone interference of autophagy observed in malignant glioma cells during our experiment is partly mediated through PI3K/akt/mTOR pathway. Akt selective inhibitor like Ly294002 could be used to improve treatment during radiotherapy in gliomas patients especially where PTEN is mutated.

#### **Bibliography**

Baskar R, Dai J, Wenlong N, Yeo R, Yeoh KW, *Biological response of cancer cells to radiation treatment*, Front Mol Biosci. 2014; 1: 24

Bauman GS, MacDonald W, Moore E, Ramsey DA, Fisher BJ, Amberger VR, Del Maestro RM, *effects of radiation on a model of malignant glioma invasion*, journal of neuro-Oncology,1999;44 (3):223-31.

Cao C, Subhawong T, Jeffrey MA, Kim KW, Geng L, Konjeti RS, Young JG, Bo L, *Inhibition of Mammalian Target of Rapamycin or Apoptotic Pathway Induces Autophagy and Radio-sensitizes PTEN Null Prostate Cancer Cells*, Cancer Res 2006; 66: (20)

Cerniglia GJ, Karar J, Tyagi S, Christofidou-Solomidou M, Rengan R, Koumenis C, Maity A, Inhibition of autophagy as a strategy to augment radio-sensitization by the dual phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor NVP-BEZ235, Molecular Pharmacology, 2012. 82(6):1230-40

Cenciarini M, Valentino M, Belia S, Sforna L, Rosa P, Ronchetti S, D'Adamo MC, Pessia M, (2019) *Dexamethasone in Glioblastoma Multiforme Therapy: Mechanisms and Controversies.* Front. Mol. Neurosci. 12:65

Classen F, Kranz P, Riffkin H, Pompsch M, Wolf A, Göpelt K, Baumann M, Baumann J, Brockmeier U, Metzen E, *Autophagy induced by ionizing radiation promotes cell death over survival in human colorectal cancer cells,* Experimental Cell Research, 2019, 1;374(1):29-37

Codogno P, Meijer AJ, *Atg5: more than an autophagy factor*, Nature Cell Biology, 2006, volume 8, pages 1045–1047

Das A, Banik NL, Patel SJ, Ray SK, *Dexamethasone protected human glioblastoma U87MG cells from temozolomide induced apoptosis by maintaining Bax : Bcl-2 ratio and preventing proteolytic activities*, 2004, Molecular Cancer, Biomed Central Research, 3(1):36

Davis ME, *Glioblastoma: Overview of Disease and Treatment*, Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing. 2016 Oct 1; 20(5): S2–S8

Errafiy R, Aguado C, Ghislat G, Esteve JM, Gil A, et al. *PTEN Increases Autophagy and Inhibits the Ubiquitin-Proteasome Pathway in Glioma Cells Independently of its Lipid Phosphatase Activity.* PLoS ONE, 2013, 8(12)

Gewirtz DA, the Autophagic Response to Radiation: Relevance for Radiation Sensitization in Cancer, Therapy Radiation Research, 2014, 182(4):363-367

Gewirtz DA, Cyto-protective and non-protective autophagy in cancer therapy, Autophagy, 2013, 9:9, 1263-1265

Gustafsson AB, Gottlieb RA, *Recycle or die; the role of autophagy in cardio protection*. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology. April 2008, 44(4):654-61

Hippert MM, O'Toole PS and Thorburn A, *Autophagy in Cancer: Good, Bad, or Both*? Cancer research, Oct 2006, 66(19):9349-51

Jo GH, Bögler O, Chwae YJ, Yoo H, Lee SH, Park JB, Kim YJ, Kim JH, Gwak HS. *Radiation-Induced Autophagy Contributes to Cell Death and Induces Apoptosis Partly in Malignant Glioma Cells*. Cancer Res Treat, 2015 Apr; 47 (2):221-41.

Kewal KJ, a Critical Overview of Targeted Therapies for Glioblastoma, Front Oncol. 2018; 8: 419

Leis H, Page A, Ramirez A, Bravo A, Segrelles C, Paramio J, Barettino D, Jorcano JL, Perez P, *Glucocorticoid Receptor Counteracts Tumorigenic Activity of Akt in Skin through Interference with the Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase Signaling Pathway*. Molecular Endocrinology (2004)18(2):303– 311

Li HF, Kim JS and Waldman T, Radiation-induced Akt activation modulates radioresistance in human glioblastoma cells, Radiation Oncology, 2009, 4:43 doi: 10.1186/1748-717X-4-43

Mattern J, Buchler MW, Herr I (2007) Cell Cycle Arrest by Glucocorticoids May Protect Normal Tissue and Solid Tumors from Cancer Therapy, Cancer Biology & Therapy, 6:9, 1341-1350

Milella M, Falcone I, Conciatori F, et.al, *PTEN: multiple functions in human malignant tumors*, frontiers in oncology, Review article (Feb 2015) 16; 5:24

Molitoris JK, McColl KS, Swerdlow S, et al. *Glucocorticoid elevation of dexamethasone-induced gene 2 (Dig2/RTP801/REDD1) protein mediates autophagy in lymphocytes* [published correction appears in J Biol Chem. 2011 Nov 11;286(45):39673]. *J Biol Chem.* 2011; 286 (34):30181–30189.

Moretti L, Attia A, Kim KW, Lu B. *Crosstalk between Bak/Bax and mTOR signaling regulates radiation-induced autophagy*. Autophagy, 2007; 3 (2):142-4

Nakamura JL, Karlsson A, Arvold ND, Gottschalk AR, Pieper RO, Stokoe D, Haas-Kogan DA, *PKB/Akt mediates radiosensitization by the signaling inhibitor LY294002 in human malignant gliomas,* Journal of Neuro-Oncology February 2005, Volume 71, Issue 3, pp 215–222

Nowak DG, Trotman LC, PTEN, Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases in Cancer, 2016, 233-241

Pitter KL, Tamagno I, Alikhanyan K, et.al *Corticosteroids compromise survival in glioblastoma*, Brain a journal of neurology, 2016 May; 139(5): 1458–1471

Ravikumar B, Sarkar S, Davies JE, Futter M, Garcia-Arencibia M, and et.al, *Regulation of Mammalian Autophagy in Physiology and Pathophysiology. Physiol Rev* 90: 1383–1435, 2010

Ravikumar B, Moreau K, Jahreiss L, Puri C, Rubinsztein, DC, *Plasma membrane contributes to the formation of pre-autophagosomal structures*. Nature Cell Biology, 2010, 12(8):747-57

Sharma K, Le N, Alotaibi M, Gewirtz DA, *Cytotoxic autophagy in cancer therapy*, International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2014, 15(6):10034-10051

Shields LB, Shelton BJ, Shearer AJ, Chen L, Sun DA, Parsons S, Bourne TD, LaRocca R, Spalding AC, *Dexamethasone administration during definitive radiation and temozolomide renders a poor prognosis in a retrospective analysis of newly diagnosed glioblastoma patients*, Radiation Oncology. 2015 Oct 31; 10: 222

Song MS, Salmena L, and Pandolfi PP, *The functions and regulation of the PTEN tumor suppressor*, Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 2012, volume 13, pages 283–296 (2012)

Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, Taphoorn MJ et al, *Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma*. N Engl J Med 2005, 352:987-996.

Tam SY, Wu VW, Law HK. *Influence of autophagy on the efficacy of radiotherapy*. Radiation Oncology. 2017; 12 (1):57

Tanida I, Ueno T, Kominami E, (2008) *LC3 and Autophagy. In: Deretic V. (eds) Autophagosome and Phagosome.* Methods in Molecular Biology, vol 445. Humana Press. DOI https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-157-4\_4

Toulany M, Lee KJ, Fattah KR, Lin YF, Fehrenbacher B, Schaller M, Chen PB, Chen JD, and Rodemann HP, *Akt Promotes Post-Irradiation Survival of Human Tumor Cells through Initiation, Progression, and Termination of DNA-PKcs–Dependent DNA Double-Strand Break Repair*, May 2012, Molecular cancer research DOI: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-11-0592.

Troncoso R, Paredes F, Parra V, et.al, *Dexamethasone-induced autophagy mediates muscle atrophy through mitochondrial clearance*, Cell Cycle. July 2014 13(14): 2281–2295

Wang L, Shang Z, Zhou Y, Hu X, Chen Y, Fan Y, Wei X, Wu L, Liang Q, Zhang J, Gao Z, *Autophagy mediates glucose starvation-induced glioblastoma cell quiescence and chemoresistance through coordinating cell metabolism, cell cycle, and survival.* Cell Death Dis. 2018 Feb 12; 9 (2):213.

Wang Z, Zhou L, Zheng X, Liu W, *Effects of dexamethasone on autophagy and apoptosis in acute spinal cord injury*, neuroReport: September 5, 2018 - Volume 29 - Issue 13 - p 1084–1091

Willers H, Azzoli CG, Santivasi WL, Xia F, *Basic Mechanisms of Therapeutic Resistance to Radiation and Chemotherapy in Lung Cancer*, Cancer J. 2013; 19(3): 200–207

Wilson EN, Bristol ML, Di X, Maltese WA, Koterba K, Beckman MJ, Gewirtz DA. A switch between cytoprotective and cytotoxic autophagy in the radiosensitization of breast tumor cells by chloroquine and vitamin D. Horm Cancer. 2011 Oct;2 (5):272-85.

Zhang S, Liu Y, Liang Q, *Low-dose dexamethasone affects osteoblast viability by inducing autophagy via intracellular ROS*, Molecular medicine reports, 2018, 17: 4307-4316

#### **Supplementary Figures**



Supplementary figure 1: Dexamethasone  $(10\mu M)$  had no significant effect on malignant glioma cells.



Supplementary figure 2: Atg5 knock down efficiency tested on U373 using

different concentration of siRNA.



Supplementary figure 3: Dexamethasone dephosphorylated akt in PTEN\_mt U373 glioma cell after radiation

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I sincerely thank Prof. Gwak, Ho-Shin for his advice and guidance. His teaching has helped to broaden my academic knowledge as a future research scientist. I also thank the thesis committee members Prof. Park, Jong Bae and Prof. Cheong, Heesun who gave generous technical advice and encouragement for my thesis.

I would like to thank my senior laboratory members, Lee Kyue Yim, Dr.Im Ji Hye and a team from Prof. Park, Jong Bae's laboratory, without their teaching and guidance on my experiments my thesis would not have been complete.

In a special way, I would like to thank Lin, Weiwei for her teaching and relentless support towards my work for the period i was carrying out the research. A great thank you to Dr. Tae-Sik Kim who help in acquisitioning and interpreting the data during flow cytometry analysis.

I sincerely thank Korea Foundation for International Healthcare (KOFIH) and Uganda Cancer Institute (UCI) under management of Dr. Jackson Orem for giving me the opportunity and supporting me financially throughout my training program.

Finally, gratitude to Mwesige, Benjamin for his continuous technical guidance and support towards my carrier growth, may God bless you. A special dedication to my family members, my wife and son, my parents, brothers and all my friends for their constant social support and encouragement.